



Thesis for the Degree of Master of Fisheries Science

Bloom Potential of Toxic Dinoflagellate

Alexandrium spp. in Jinhae Bay, Korea

by

Ibrahim Musa Abdelwahab Ahamed

KOICA-PKNU International Graduate Program of Fisheries Science

Graduate School of Global Fisheries

Pukyong National University

February 2014

Bloom Potential of Toxic Dinoflagellate Alexandrium spp. in Jinhae Bay, Korea 한국의 진해만 해역에서 발생하는 유해성 와편모조류 Alexandrium spp.의 발생잠재력 조사

Advisor: Prof. Chang-Hoon Kim

by

Ibrahim Musa Abdelwahab Ahamed

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Fisheries Science

in KOICA-PKNU International Graduate Program of Fisheries Science

Graduate School of Global Fisheries

Pukyong National University

February, 2014

Bloom Potential of Toxic Dinoflagellate *Alexandrium* spp. in Jinhae Bay, Korea

A dissertation

by Ibrahim Musa Abdelwahab Ahamed



February 21, 2014

Contents

Contents	i
List of figures	ii
List of tables	vi
Abstract	.viii
1. Introduction	1
1.1. Background	1
1.2. Alexandrium life cycle stages	6
1.3. Hypothesis	9
1.4. Objective	9
2. Materials and methods	11
2.1. Study site	11
2.2. Observation of physicochemical parameters	11
2.3. Sediment sample treatment	14
2.4. Statistical analysis	17
3. Results	18
3.1. Variation of physical factors	18
3.2. Spatio-temporal distribution of <i>Alexandrium</i> cysts	25
3.3. A Relationship between motile cells and cysts abundance during	
vernal warming period	40
4. Discussion	46
5. Conclusion	52
6. References	54
7. Acknowledgement	60

List of figures

Fig. 11. Monthly variation averaged of DO at surface (\diamondsuit) and bottom (\blacksquare) of
the sampling station (CCSt. 1) from February to May201322
Fig. 12. Monthly variation averaged of DO at surface (\diamondsuit) and bottom (\blacksquare) of
the sampling station (CCSt. 2) from February to May201322
Fig. 13. Monthly averaged of salinity (psu) at surface (\diamondsuit) and bottom (\blacksquare)
of the station (CCSt. 1) from February to May 201323
Fig. 14. Monthly averaged of salinity (psu) at surface (\diamondsuit) and bottom (\blacksquare)
of the station (CCSt. 2) from February to May 2013
Fig. 15. Monthly variation of the abundance of Alexandrium spp. cysts
in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 2 from December 2011
to December2012
Fig. 16. Monthly variation of the abundance of <i>Alexandrium</i> spp. cysts
in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 3 from December 2011 to
December201229
Fig. 17. Monthly variation of the abundance of <i>Alexandrium</i> spp. cysts
in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 4 from December 2011 to
December2012
Fig. 18. Monthly variation of the abundance of <i>Alexandrium</i> spp. cysts
in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 5 from December 2011 to
December 2012
Fig. 19. Monthly variation of the abundance of <i>Alexandrium</i> spp. cysts
in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 6 from December 2011 to
December 2012

Fig. 20. Monthly variation of the abundance of <i>Alexandrium</i> spp. cysts in
NFRDI sediment samples at St. 7 from December 2011 to
December2012
Fig. 21. Monthly variation of the abundance of <i>Alexandrium</i> spp. cysts
in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 8 from December 2011 to
December2012
Fig. 22. Monthly variation of the abundance of <i>Alexandrium</i> spp. cysts
in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 9 from December 2011 to
December 2012
Fig. 23. Monthly variation of the abundance of Alexandrium spp. cysts
in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 10 from December 2011 to
December2012
Fig. 24. Monthly variation of the abundance of Alexandrium spp. cysts
in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 11 from December 2011 to
December2012
Fig. 25. Monthly variation of the abundance of <i>Alexandrium</i> spp. cysts in
NFRDI sediment samples at St. 12 from December 2011 to
December 2012
Fig. 26. Monthly variation of the abundance of Alexandrium spp. cysts
in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 13 from December 2011 to
December 2012
Fig. 27. Monthly variation of the abundance of <i>Alexandrium</i> spp. cysts in
NFRDI sediment samples at St. 14 from December 2011 to
December 2012

- Fig. 30. Monthly variation of vegetative cells and cysts of *Alexandrium* spp. at station CCSt. 1 in Jinhae Bay from February to May 201342
- Fig. 31. Monthly variation of vegetative cells and cysts of *Alexandrium* spp. at station CCSt. 2 in Jinhae Bay from February to May 201342



List of tables

Table 1. Location of sampling stations in Chilcheon Island, Jinhae Bay from
February to May 2013
Table 2. Mean value of temperature in Jinhae Bay from December 2011 to
December 2012
Table 3. Mean value of environmental factors in Jinhae Bay at February
2013
Table 4. Mean value of environmental factors in Jinhae Bay at March 2013
Table 5. Mean value of environmental factors in Jinhae Bay at April 2013
Table 6. Mean value of environmental factors in Jinhae Bay at May 2013
Table 7. The distribution of <i>Alexandrium</i> spp. cysts/cm ³ in sediment
samples collected by NFRDI in Jinhae Bay from December 2012 to
May 2012
Table 8. The distribution of <i>Alexandrium</i> spp. cysts/cm ³ in sediment
samples collected by NFRDI in Jinhae Bay from June 2012 to
December 2012
Table 9. Results of SPSS test for the abundance of Alexandrium spp. cysts
/cm ³ among the stations in sediment samples by NFRDI from
December 2011 to December 2012
Table10. Results of SPSS test for a comparison of Alexandrium cyst
abundance in Jinhae Bay from Dec 2011 to December 201238

Table 11. Results of SPSS test for the abundance of <i>Alexandrium</i> spp.
cysts/cm ³ among the seasons in sediment samples by NFRDI from
December 2011 to December 2012
Table 12. Results of SPSS of one-way (ANOVA) test for the monthly
abundance of Alexandrium spp. cells/L at two stations of CCSt. 1
and CCSt. 2 in Jinhae Bay from February to May 201343
Table 13. Results of SPSS of one-way (ANOVA) test for the monthly
abundance of Alexandrium spp. cysts/cm ³ at two stations of
CCSt. 1 and CCSt. 2 in Jinhae Bay from February to
May 2013
Table 14. T.Test for a comparison of the abundance of <i>Alexandrium</i> spp.
cells in surface water between two stations (CCSt. 1 and CCSt. 2)
in Jinhae Bay from February to May 201344
Table 15. T.Test for a comparison of the abundance of <i>Alexandrium</i> spp.
cells in bottom water between two stations (CCSt. 1 and CCSt. 2)
in Jinhae Bay from February to May 201344
Table 16. T.Test for a comparison of the abundance of <i>Alexandrium</i> spp.
cysts/cm ³ in the sediment between two stations (CCSt. 1 and CCSt.
2) in Jinhae Bay from February to May 201345

Bloom Potential of Toxic Dinoflagellate Alexandrium spp.

in Jinhae Bay, Korea

Ibrahim Musa Abdelwahab Ahamed

KOICA-PKNU International Graduate Program of Fisheries Science

Graduate School of Global Fisheries

Pukyong National University

Abstract

Harmful algal blooms (HABs) are phenomenon which shows serious impacts on the marine ecosystem and aquaculture productivity in many areas of the world. In Korea, Jinhae Bay is a highly developed coastal area in aquaculture productivity, where mussels, oysters and fish farms are widely distributed. however, the occurrences of HABs and paralytic shellfish poisoning (PSP) caused by the genus *Alexandrium* which has frequently bloomed around Jinhae Bay are imposing serious damage to public health as well as shellfish farming.

To examine bloom potential and development of the toxic dinoflagellate *Alexandrium* spp., 182 sediment samples collected from 14 stations in Jinhae Bay from December 2011 to December 2012 by National Fisheries Research and Development Institute (NFRDI) were analysed, and the occurrence of vegetative cells and abundance of resting cysts of

Alexandrium spp. at two periodic stations (CCSt. 1 and CCSt. 2) in Jinhae Bay were monthly surveyed from from February to May 2013.

Water temperature (°C) averaged on the periodic sampling stations in Jinhae Bay from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012 shows a clear seasonal variation pattern with lower ranges in winter and higher in summer. Also on the physical factors such as pH and DO (mg/L) observed at the stations near Chilcheon Island in Jinhae Bay from Feb to May 2013 indicated for the highest mean in the summer season and the lowest in the winter, while the salinity ranges high in winter and low during spring season.

Alexandrium spp. cysts were found in 182 sediment samples received from National Fisheries Research and Development Institute (NFRDI) at 14 stations in Jinhae Bay from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012, but the abundance was highly variable in a concentration range of 14-250 cysts/cm³ by showing spatio-temporal distribution patterns. Also the abundance of *Alexandrium* cysts varied horizontally among the sampling stations, where the highest concentration was found in St.11 (141.5±51.9 cysts/ cm³) and relatively higher distribution pattern showed around Jindong Bay stations.

When a relationship between motile cells occurrence and cysts abundance was focused on the periodic stations near Chilcheon Island during vernal warming period, vegetative cells and cysts of *Alexandrium* spp. were also present at two stations of CCSt. 1 and CCSt. 2. moreover, there was a close relationship between the occurrence of vegetative cells and the abundance of cysts. vegetative cells of *Alexandrium* spp. appeared at all the stations in February, and reached maximum concentration (13.6±2.8 cells/L) in April. In contrast, *Alexandrium* cysts showed in maximum abundance in February, and the highest

concentration of vegetative cells was followed by a sharp decrease in the cysts abundance, adversely both with temperature elevation and with the increase of motile cells.

Motile cells recurrent in the cold season could result from the germination of their cysts which have been controlled largely by the environmental and biological regimes. Considering the extensive occurrence of toxic algal species with the same seasonality as a cysts germination, it is suggested that monitoring for the prediction of regional impacts should be undertaken based on the life cycle strategies of causative organisms.



1. Introduction

1.1. Background

Some algae are capable of producing powerful toxins that are harmful to other species, may include fish kills, injuries to marine invertebrates, and human illness or death (Matrai et al., 2005). over 100 species of dinoflagellates are capable of forming harmful algal blooms (HABs), of which 50 species are known to be toxic. In addition, the genus *Alexandrium* includes 28 species, of which described 8 species are known to cause paralytic shellfish poisoning (PSP), while the others are non-toxic species. moreover, harmful algal blooms produce natural toxins and various types of paralytic shellfish poisoning (PSP) that causes negative impacts with large-scale of marine ecosystem (Gracia et al., 2013). associated with PSP occurrence in coastal waters throughout the world, from northern to tropical latitudes, some of these toxic species produce varying amounts and combinations of potent neurotoxins such as saxitoxins and gonyautoxins, leading to highly variable intrinsic potencies (Martins et al., 2004).

Therefore, many researchers has been focused to understanding the biological, physical and chemical factors that control initiation, maintenance and cells function of variety of HAB-forming species which often produce potent toxins cause contaminants in aquaculture environment (Figueroa et al., 2008). To prevent problems caused by PSP, it is necessary to study and enumerate these toxic species before and during a bloom (Nagai et al., 2012; Lacasse et al., 2013; Sournia, 1995).

The sexual reproduction of the genus *Alexandrium* includes a dormant hypnozygote cyst formation, which is fall to the bottom where they undergo a mandatory period of quiescence at inappropriate condition (Kirn et al., 2005). In addition, only about 15% of them will produce hypnozygote (Anderson et al., 2012). A thick protective wall improves the survival of resting cysts and facilitates their sinking to the sea bottom. moreover, it can rest in the sediments for decades, consequently survive long as of potential diversity (Angles et al., 2010). cysts germination of *Alexandrium* spp. has been affected by both environmental and physiological factors such as temperature, light, salinity, turbulence, and time of year (Kirn et al., 2005), as well as biological factors such as algal-bacterial interactions are increasingly cited as potential regulators both in the sense of decreasing and enhancing algal blooming (Su et al., 2007). furthermore, marine microalgae blooming in coastal waters has been indicated to the absorption of nutrients including iron, which is very importance for microalgae as it acts to cysts

formation structure (Subba Rao and Stewart, 2011). in fact, the cysts are very important for species dispersal, bloom initiation and termination in bottom sediments, and overlying winters when conditions are unsuitable for growth (Anderson, 1978; Anderson et al., 2005). accordingly, examination of the factors influencing the distribution, density and germination ability of resting cysts is important in order to clarify the mechanism of blooms by these toxic dinoflagellates (Tsujino et al., 2002).

Dinoflagellate cysts range in size from 10 to 100 μ m, and thus they behave as fine silt particles in the natural environment. therefore, they can be easily transported by surface and bottom currents (Goodman, 1987). Resting cysts are mainly distributed at the sediment surface where their concentration increases in muddy sediment with water and organic matter contents. however, the observed variations in resting cysts distribution and density could be linked to the encystment capability of planktonic species in the water column, sedimentation, transport and bioturbation processes. mud sediment combined with high sedimentation rate promotes resting cysts burying and resuspension can affect their distribution. moreover, bioturbation contributes to their vertical redistribution into the sediment. all these processes result in heterogeneous distribution of resting cysts (Genovesi et al., 2007).

Jinhae Bay, a semi-enclosed and often the water depth ranging between 5 to 20m, affected with coastal tide, located in the south eastern part of Korea, include many island and small bays such as Masan Bay, Haengam Bay, Jindong Bay, Gohyun Bay (Park et al., 1995; Lee, 1998). Jinhae Bay includes mariculture such as bivalves and finfish and aquaculture for oyster, sea squirt and ark clam which is the most popular fisheries industry around the Bay area (Lee et al., 2008). however, the harmful algal blooms (HABs) including the toxigenic dinoflagellate the Alexandrium tamarense/ catenella (Dinophyceae) have frequently occurred at Jinhae Bay, and recently are increasing in intensity and spreading to new areas. especially, toxic Alexandrium species, largely A. tamarense, causing PSP intoxification, have occurred during spring and or autumn season almost every year in shellfish culture farm not only in Jinhae Bay but also in the western coast of Busan, these are harvesting sites for shellfish such as oysters and mussel harvest has been frequently banned mainly from March to April based on the PSP toxin monitoring results (Han et al., 1993; Kim and Shin, 1997).

Considering the extensive occurrence of harmful and toxic algal species showing a seasonal period, the development of monitoring techniques, particularly, based on life cycle would be beneficial for the early prediction and warning of HAB occurrence or intoxification of bivalves.



1.2. Alexandrium life cycle stages

The life cycle of *Alexandrium* has been described by Dale (1977), Anderson and Wall (1978) (Fig. 1). this life cycle includes a motile vegetative cell that divides mitotically, a temporary resting cyst or pellicle cyst, motile anisogamous gametes, a motile planozygote that develops into a dormant hypnozygote cyst, and a motile planomeiocyte, the stage that emerges from the cyst.

Vegetative cells or motile cells as they are sometimes called, are roughly 36 μ m in diameter with two flagellate, one transverse and the other one longitudinal (Dale, 1977). vegetative cells can swim on the order of 10 m per day (Kirn et al.,2005).

Pellicle cysts during times of environmental stress, vegetative cells can shed their thecae and become pellicle, or temporary cysts - athecate non motile cells of spherical or ovoid shapes (Anderson and Wall., 1978). internal structures can either resemble those of motile cells or hypnozygotes is capable of surviving for one to seven months in this temporary stage while environmental conditions are unsuitable before they must resume the vegetative cell stage or die. most pellicle cysts are not viable after only two months (Anderson and Wall., 1978). Hypnozygote cysts are usually capsule shaped and 45-55 μ m by 25-30 μ m, although shape and size vary somewhat (Anderson, 1980). hypnozygote cysts have a mandatory dormancy period on the order of 2-6 months; there is evidence that the length of dormancy is temperature dependent, with excystment being possible earlier in cysts incubated at warmer temperatures (Anderson, 1980). cysts can survive burial in sediments for many years and still germinate successfully (Keafer et al., 1992).

Planomeiocytes are also called germLings or germLing cells. they are posteriorly biflagellate, diploid, and at 40-50 pm, larger than vegetative cells soon after excystment, the planomeiocytes undergo their first division within 24 hours (Anderson and Wall, 1978), within 12-36 hours for a variety of dinoflagellate species (Nehring, 1996).

A a ch or m



Fig. 1. Life cycle diagram of *Alexandrium* spp. (modified from Anderson, 1998).

1.3. Hypothesis

Some species of flagellates form resting cysts, which settle on the sea floor and can remain there for years. the important role of cysts to the bloom initiation has been well pointed out (Anderson and Wall, 1978; Anderson et al., 1983), because the timing and location of algal blooms can depend on when the cysts germinate and where they were deposited, respectively.

The bloom potential and germination rates within the *Alexandrium* spp. in Jinhae Bay has been changing with the variation of environmental factors such as temperature, pH, salinity, nutrients, and seasonal regimes.

1.4. Study objectives

Studies on the sediments analysis have also been conducted to document the historical occurrence of harmful dinoflagellate. however, in Korea coastal areas, the distribution of *Alexandrium* cysts remains poorly documented, their relations to environmental conditions are not fully understood, and environmental conditions of dinoflagellate cyst assemblages has not been attempted (Shin et al., 2010). besides few studies on the bloom potential of toxic dinoflagellate of *Alexandrium* spp. have been done. this study aims to: I. To know how *Alexandrium* spp. develop to impact on the mussels and aquaculture industry in Jinhae Bay.

II. To compare and determine the growth and bloom potential of *Alexandrium* spp. during the different seasons and environmental factors.



2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study site

Sediment samples were collected by National Fisheries Research and Development Institute (NFRDI) from fourteen stations (Stns. 2-15) on the periodic monitoring stations in Jinhae Bay at the southern coastal area of Korea from December 2011 to December 2012 (Fig. 2).

Sediment and water samples for the enumeration of cyst potential and cells development were collected bimonthly from the stations 1 and 2 near Chilcheon Island in Jinhae Bay from Feb to May 2013. the latitude and longitude were determined continuously at the study site (Table 1, Fig. 3).

2.2 Observation of physicochemical parameters

Water temperature, salinity, pH, DO were measured by using the hydrometer MS 5 (Hach Hydro lab). quantitative water samples were taken from the surface and bottom using a water sampler and phytoplankton net (\emptyset 20 µm nylon mesh) and concentrated into 50 mL volume and were fixed with 1% glutaraldehyde solution (1 mL).



Fig. 2. Periodic sampling stations of bottom sediment by NFRDI in Jinhae Bay, Korea (modified from the National Fisheries Research & Development Institute).

Table 1. Location of sampling stations in Chilcheon Island, Jinhae Bay from Feb to May 2013

Station	Latitude	Longitude
CCSt. 1	35° 01′ 90″ N	128° 64′ 35″ E
CCSt. 2	35° 01′ 72″ N	128° 63′ 88″ E



Fig. 3. Map showing the periodic (bimonthly) sampling stations near Chilcheon Island in Jinhae Bay from Feb to May 2013.

2.3. Sediment samples treatment

Sediments from NFRDI were placed into small plastic bottles and stored at 4 °C in dark place until they were used. Ten grams (wet weight) of each sediment samples were suspended in filtered sea water (FSW) and sieved through a nylon mesh to obtain the size fraction measuring between 20 μ m and 125 μ m, the materials remaining on the net mesh size-20 μ m was washed with FSW in 15 mL centrifuge tubes until 7 mL and inject 3 mL of SPT (sodium polytungstate) solution using injector carefully beneath the sediment (Fig. 4).

The suspension ingredient was centrifuged at $1600 \times g$ for 10 min. after centrifugation, we got the organic materials including resting cysts of *Alexandrium* spp. by using micropipette, and added it into a 15 mL tube with 12 mL of filtered seawater and centrifuged at $1000 \times g$ for 2 min \times 3 times (Fig. 5). the final 2 mL were taken and cyst counts were done using counting chamber under the microscope equipped at 100X magnification.





Fig. 5. Protocol of SPT (Sodium polytungstate) treatment method for the enumeration of *Alexandrium* resting cysts in natural sediments (modified from Matzuoka and Fukuyo, 2000).

2.4. Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses (means, variances, standard deviations) were carried out using the software SPSS for the variances. One-way (ANOVA) was used to test for the mean different between sampling stations and months, and multiple comparison analysis was also carried out using Tukeys HSD and Duncan for comparison error test between means of all results.



3. Results

3.1 Variation of physical factors

Water temperature (°C) averaged on the periodic sampling stations in Jinhae Bay from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012 shows a clear seasonal variation pattern with lower ranges in winter and higher in summer. subsequently spring and autumn exist as transitions between summer and winter. Spring has lower mean temperatures than autumn across year. (Table 2, Fig. 6)

Also on the physical factors such as temperature (°C), pH and DO (mg/L) observed at the stations near Chilcheon Island in Jinhae Bay from Feb to May 2013 indicated for the highest mean in the summer season and the lowest in the winter (Figs. 7-12 and Tables 3-6), while the salinity ranges high in winter and low during spring season (Figs. 12-13).

श्रित मा म

Location	Date	Temp (°C)		
Jinhae Bay	Dec 2011	12.75		
	Jan 2012	8.30		
	Feb 2012	6.75		
	Mar 2012	9.35		
	Apr 2012	12.25		
	May 2012	20.15		
	Jun 2012	21.45		
	Jul 2012	24.85		
	Aug 2012	27.10		
1	Sep 2012	25.75		
65	Oct 2012	20.85		
150	Nov 2012	17.25		
6	Dec 2012	13.65		
	Data source: NFRDI h	ome page (www.nfrda.re.kr)		
30 ->				
ତି ₂₅				
20				
	STH S	Jinhae Bay		
E S	ч			
Dec. 130, 450, 104, 104, 100, 101, 101, 106, 260, 04, 101, 101,				
Months				

Table 2. Mean value of temperature in Jinhae Bay from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012

Fig. 6. Monthly variation of water temperature (°C) averaged on the periodic sampling stations in Jinhae Bay from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012.



Fig. 7. Monthly variation of water temperature averaged at surface (◆) and bottom (■) of the sampling station (CCSt. 1) from Feb to May 2013.



Fig. 8. Monthly variation of water temperature averaged at surface (◆) and bottom (■) of the sampling station (CCSt. 2) from Feb to May 2013.



Fig. 9. Monthly variation averaged of pH at surface (♦) and bottom (■) of the sampling station (CCSt. 1) from Feb to May 2013.



Fig. 10. Monthly variation averaged of pH at surface (\diamondsuit) and bottom (\blacksquare) of the sampling station (CCSt. 2) from Feb to May 2013.



Fig. 11. Monthly variation averaged of DO at surface (♦) and bottom (■) of the sampling station (CCSt. 1) from Feb to May 2013.



Fig. 12. Monthly variation averaged of DO at surface (\blacklozenge) and bottom (\blacksquare) of the sampling station (CCSt. 2) from Feb to May 2013.


Fig. 13. Monthly variation averaged of salinity (psu) at surface (\diamondsuit) and bottom (\blacksquare) of the sampling station (CCSt. 1) from Feb to May 2013.



Fig. 14. Monthly variation averaged of salinity (psu) at surface (\diamondsuit) and bottom (\blacksquare) of the sampling station (CCSt. 2) from Feb to May 2013.

Table 3. Mean value of environmental factors at the sampling stations in Jinhae Bay at February 2013

Station	Temp (°C)	Sal (psu)	pН	DO (mg/L)
CCSt. 1 Surface	6.64	34.00	8.31	6.95
CCSt. 1 Bottom	6.84	33.99	8.35	6.55
CCSt. 2 Surface	6.44	33.93	8.34	6.60
CCSt. 2 Bottom	6.44	33.96	8.35	6.25

Table 4. Mean value of environmental factors at the sampling stations in Jinhae Bay at March 2013

Station	Temp (°C)	Sal (psu)	pН	DO (mg/L)
CCSt. 1 Surface	8.98	33.78	8.51	7.25
CCSt. 1 Bottom	9.2	33.91	8.51	6.25
CCSt. 2 Surface	8.95	3376	8.56	7.05
CCSt. 2 Bottom	8.69	33.64	8.55	6.4

Table 5. Mean value of environmental factors at the sampling stations in Jinhae Bay at April 2013

Station	Temp (°C)	Sal (psu)	pН	DO (mg/L)
CCSt. 1 Surface	12.26	33.84	8.58	7.25
CCSt. 1 Bottom	12.12	33.83	8.59	6.75
CCSt. 2 Surface	12.09	33.75	8.62	7.15
CCSt. 2 Bottom	11.95	33.78	8.62	6.65
	1000			

Table. 6. Mean value of environmental factors at the sampling stations in Jinhae Bay at May 2013

3

Station	Temp (°C)	Sal (psu)	pН	DO (mg/L)
CCSt. 1 Surface	19.06	33.51	8.51	7.65
CCSt. 1 Bottom	18	33.92	8.56	7.2
CCSt. 2 Surface	19.19	33.8	8.62	7.56
CCSt. 2 Bottom	18	33.95	8.58	7.3

3.2. Spatio-temporal distribution of *Alexandrium* cysts

Alexandrium spp. cysts were found in 182 sediment samples collected by National Fisheries Research and Development Institute (NFRDI) at 14 stations in Jinhae Bay from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012, but the abundance was highly variable in a concentration range of 14-250 cysts/cm³ by showing spatio-temporal distribution patterns (Tables 7-8, Figs. 15-28).

The abundance of *Alexandrium* cysts varied horizontally among the sampling stations in Jinhae Bay where the highest concentration was found in St.11 (141.5 ± 51.9 cysts/cm³) and relatively higher distribution pattern showed around Jindong Bay stations of St. 10, St. 5 and St. 8 (Fig. 29, Table 9).

According to Duncan and Turkeys multiple comparison, the cyst abundance appeared to be highly variable among months, but it showed conspicuous variation patterns at all stations, whereas the majority of the cysts counted were observed high from December to February in winter season, and June at the end of spring time. The highest mean abundance (76.6±56.7 cells/cm³) in February was followed by a conspicuous decrease till April to May, and a sudden increase at all stations appeared in June. (Table. 10, Figs. 15-28). The statistical analysis results in this study gave a P-value lower 0.05 among the difference seasons. Winter season had been highest cysts (Mean±SD; 67.52±43.952), but that there was significant difference among variable seasons (winter, spring, summer and autumn) (Table 11) in the samples that collected from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012 by NFRDI in Jinhae Bay.

Cysts were counted in July is very low density in NFRDI sediment samples in Jinhae Bay at all 14 stations (Table 7).

Their abundance showed the highest value comparable to the previous and later months of May and July which showed nearly the lowest values in the year. this patterns in monthly cyst abundance is a similar result to the previous distribution and germination experiments that there were high densities in June and low July (Shin, 2002).

5

CH 21 II

2012								
G4 4°	Month/Year							
Stations	Dec 2011	Jan 2012	Feb 2012	Mar 2012	Apr 2012	May 2012	lotal	
St.2	43	53	60	39	25	26	246	
St.3	35	43	54	35	30	35	232	
St.4	20	24	35	23	20	22	144	
St.5	95	100	113	55	47	58	468	
St.6	34	55	57	53	36	38	273	
St.7	25	33	40	26	29	28	181	
St.8	66	66	70	56	48	57	363	
St.9	65	63	77	49	39	45	338	
St.10	105	96	124	90	50	69	534	
St.11	150	170	250	120	130	136	956	
St.12	45	44	50	35	28	32	234	
St.13	32	32	35	30	27	25	181	
St.14	65	63	69	39	35	40	311	
St.15	27	29	39	24	18	22	159	
Total	807	871	1073	674	562	633	4620	

Table 7. The distribution of *Alexandrium* spp. cysts/cm³ in sediment samples collected by NFRDI in Jinhae Bay from December 2011 to May 2012

Stations			M	onth/Yea	ır			Tatal
Stations	Jun 2012	Jul 2012	Aug 2012	Sep 2012	Oct 2012	Nov 2012	Dec 2012	Total
St.2	50	15	18	18	20	30	52	203
St.3	49	20	28	25	25	38	47	232
St.4	36	18	27	27	29	34	42	213
St.5	70	45	50	47	47	62	110	431
St.6	52	37	40	37	45	47	54	312
St.7	43	27	29	23	40	55	58	275
St.8	75	46	53	50	55	59	72	410
St.9	73	14	16	26	33	60	70	292
St.10	120	62	75	64	70	90	110	591
St.11	200	73	82	87	115	126	200	883
St.12	50	29	39	38	45	47	55	303
St.13	33	25	27	25	30	38	40	218
St.14	67	32	39	35	54	50	75	352
St.15	42	19	23	25	30	35	45	219
Total	960	462	546	527	638	771	1030	4934

Table 8. The distribution of *Alexandrium* spp. cysts/cm³ in sediment samples collected by NFRDI in Jinhae Bay from June 2012 to December 2012



Fig. 15. Monthly variation of the abundance of Alexandrium spp. cysts in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 2 from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012.



Fig. 16. Monthly variation of the abundance of Alexandrium spp. cysts in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 3 from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012.



Fig. 17. Monthly variation of the abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cysts in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 4 from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012.



Fig. 18. Monthly variation of the abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cysts in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 5 from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012.



Fig. 19. Monthly variation of the abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cysts in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 6 from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012.



Fig. 20. Monthly variation of the abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cysts in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 7 from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012.



Fig. 21. Monthly variation of the abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cysts in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 8 from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012.



Fig. 22. Monthly variation of the abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cysts in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 9 from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012.



Fig. 23. Monthly variation of the abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cysts in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 10 from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012.



Fig. 24. Monthly variation of the abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cysts in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 11 from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012.



Fig. 25. Monthly variation of the abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cysts in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 12 from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012.



Fig. 26. Monthly variation of the abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cysts in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 13 from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012.



Fig. 27. Monthly variation of the abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cysts in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 14 from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012.



Fig. 28. Monthly variation of the abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cysts in NFRDI sediment samples at St. 15 from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012.

		Depende	ent variable	e : cyst abun	dance/c	cm ³ at stati	ons
Stations	N	Mean	SD	Stations	Ν	Mean	SD
St.2	13	34.5	15.7	St.9	13	48.5	21.6
St.3	13	35.7	10.3	St.10	13	86.5	23.6
St.4	13	27.5	7.4	St.11	13	141.5	51.9
St.5	13	69.2	23.6	St.12	13	41.3	8.5
St.6	13	45	8.4	St.13	13	30.7	4.9
St.7	13	35.1	11.4	St.14	13	51	15.2
St.8	13	59.5	9.5	St.15	13	29.1	8.7
Total	15	2/ /			182	52.5	335.2
Sum o Square	f s	df	Mear	n Square	F	S	Р
158060.2	264	13	1215	8.482	31.05	57 7	.000
4435.80)2	A	443	5.802	11.33	31	.001
153624.4	62	12	1280	2.038	32.70)1	.000
65769.2	31	168	391	.484			
223829.4	195	181					
$R^2 =$	0.86	P = 0.0	0001	N= number	of samp	oles.	

Table 9. Results of SPSS test for the abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cysts /cm³ among the stations in sediment samples by NFRDI from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012



Fig. 29. The abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cysts/cm³ in sediment samples collected from the periodic monitoring stations by NFRDI in Jinhae Bay from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012. One-way ANOVA test showed significant different (p<0.05) among the mean value of all stations.

<u></u>							
	Dependent variable : Cysts abundance/cm ³ in Months						
Month	Ν	Mean	SD	Month	Ν	Mean	SD
Jan	14	62.2	38.6	Jul	14	33	17.9
Feb	14	76.6	56.7	Aug	14	39	19.9
Mar	14	48.1	27.2	Sep	14	37.6	19.
Apr	14	40.1	27.7	Oct	14	45.6	24.2
May	14	45.2	29.9	Nov	14	55	25.7
Jun	14	68.6	43.9	Dec	14	73.6	42.7
Corrected Total	1	3		168	52	35.08	2.7
S S	um of quares		df	Mear Squar	ı .e	F	Р
34	158.494		11	3105.3	18	2.826	.002
51	79.923		1	579.92	23	.528	.469
33:	578.571		10	3357.8	57	3.056	.001
171	397.786	5	156	1098.7	04	Y	
Total	20	5556.280		167	II	/	
$R^2 = 0.86$	P=	0.0001	A L	N= nur	nber of	f samples.	

Table 10. Results of SPSS test for a comparison of *Alexandrium* cyst abundance in the monthly mean value of 14 stations in Jinhae Bay. Sediment samples were collected by NFRDI from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012

Table 11. Results of SPSS test for the abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cysts/cm³ among the seasons in sediment samples by NFRDI from Dec 2011 to Dec 2012

Dependent variable : Cysts abundance/cm ³ among the seasons								
Season	N	df	Mean	SD	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F value	Р
winter	56	3	67.52	43.952	18378.250	6126.083	5.308	.002
spring	42	3	44.50	27.794	9069.484	9069.484	7.858	.006
summer	42	3	46.86	32.956	10917.880	10917.880	9.459	.002
fall	42	3	46.10	23.684	7460.371	3730.185	3.232	.042
Corrected Total	182		52.49	35.166	46179.11	29843.63		

N= number of samples.



3.3. A Relationship between motile cells appearance and cysts abundance during vernal warming period

Cysts and vegetative cells were also present at two stations of CCSt. 1 and CCSt. 2 near ChilCheon Island in Jinhae Bay from February to May 2013.

By the results of bimonthly monitoring of motile cells occurrence and cysts abundance at two stations near Chilcheon Island, there was a close relationship between the occurrence of vegetative cells and the abundance of cysts. Vegetative cells of *Alexandrium* spp. were found both in surface and bottom sea water samples and at two stations (CCSt. 1 and CCSt. 2) during the surveyed period, but no significant difference between the two stations (Tables 14-15) (Figs. 30-31). Their densities were very low in February $(3.8\pm1.7 \text{ cells/mL})$ and reached to maximum concentration in late April $(13.6\pm2.8 \text{ cells/mL})$ (Table 12, Figs. 14-15)

Although the cysts were present at stations CCSt.1 and CCSt.2 in sediment sampled that was bimonthly collected from Chilcheon Island in Jinhae Bay during February, March, April and May 2013. T.Test analysis showed no significant difference (P>0.05) in the cysts abundance between two stations during the survey, but higher concentrations were generally found in the station CCSt. 2 (Mean±SD, 33.9±8.4) than CCSt.1 (Mean±SD, 29.9±7.7) ((Table 16, Figs. 30-31).





Fig. 30. Monthly variation of vegetative cells and cysts of *Alexandrium* spp. at station CCSt. 1 in Jinhae Bay from Feb to May 2013.



Fig. 31. Monthly variation of vegetative cells and cysts of *Alexandrium* spp. at station CCSt. 2 in Jinhae Bay from Feb to May 2013.

Table 12. Results of SPSS of one-way (ANOVA) test for the monthly abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cells/L at two stations of CCSt. 1 and CCSt. 2 in Jinhae Bay from Feb to May 2013

	Dependent variable : Monthly abundance of cells/L						
Month	N*	Mean	SD	P-value			
Feb	8	3.8	1.7				
Mar	8	6.5	1.4	.043			
Apr	8	13.6	2.8				
May	8	7.6	.74				

* N= number of samples.

SPSS analysis on the variance showed a significant difference (P <0.05) in the cells abundance at two stations of CCSt. 1 and CCSt. 2 from Feb to May 2013.

Table 13. Results of SPSS of one-way (ANOVA) test for the monthly abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cysts/cm³ at two stations of CCSt. 1 and CCSt. 2 in Jinhae Bay from Feb to May 2013

	Dependent	t variable : Mo	onthly abundance	e of cysts/cm ³
Month	O N	Mean	SD	P-value
Feb	8	42.0	4.9	
Mar	8	32.3	5.1	0.802
Apr	8	22.5	2.9	
May	8	30.8	3	

SPSS analysis on the variance showed a significant difference (P < 0.05) in the cysts abundance of sediment samples at two stations (CCSt. 1 and CCSt. 2) from Feb to May 2013.

Table 14. T.Test for a comparison of the abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cells in surface water between two stations (CCSt. 1 and CCSt. 2) in Jinhae Bay from Feb to May 2013

	Depende	ent variable : The	abundance of	Surface cells/L
Station	Ν	Mean	SD	P-value
CCSt. 1	8	9.13	4.5	.704
CCSt. 2	8	8.75	4	

T.Test analysis showed no significant difference (P>0.05) in the abundance of surface cells between two stations during the survey periods.

Table 15. T.Test for a comparison of the abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cells in bottom water between two stations (CCSt. 1 and CCSt. 2) in Jinhae Bay from Feb to May 2013

Dependent variable : The abundance of bottom cells/L						
Station	N	Mean	SD	P-value		
CCSt.1	8	6.9	4.2	.922		
CCSt.2	8	6.8	3.6	1		

T.Test analysis showed no significant difference (P>0.05) in the abundance of surface cells between two stations during the survey periods.



Table 16. T.Test for a comparison of the abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. cysts/cm³ in the sediment between two stations (CCSt. 1 and CCSt. 2) in Jinhae Bay from Feb to May 2013

	Dependent variable : the abundance of cysts/cm ³				
Station	Ν	Mean	SD	P-value	
CCSt.1	8	29.9	7.7	.8	
CCSt.2	8	33.9	8.4		

T.Test analysis showed no significant difference (P>0.05) in the cysts abundance between two stations during the survey periods.



4. Discussion

Among the causative algal species, some of them belonging to a group called dinoflagellates and especially to the genus *Alexandrium*, can produce potent paralyzing toxins which effects can be deathful for humans. these toxins are accumulated in filter-feeding shellfish that feed upon these toxic algae; these toxins arrive to human consumer of these contaminated shellfish. Their impact is very important in the coastal waters of Korea, with dangerous level of accumulated toxins in shellfish exceeded every year in many areas. Actually two PSP accidents that resulted in human deaths were reported from Korea in 1986 and 1996 (Chang et al., 1987; Lee et al., 1997). Chang et al. (1988) first reported a correlation between the occurrence of *A. tamarense* (as *Protogonyaulax tamarensis*) and shellfish intoxication, and Han et al. (1992) demonstrated that the causative microorganisms are *A. tamarense*. in addition, *G. catenatum* was also known to produce PSP toxins in Korea (Kim and Shin, 1997; Park et al., 2004).

Alexandrium occurrence and the resting cyst abundance were surveyed and monthly surveys were continued on *Alexandrium* in one station of Jinhae Bay since 1996 (Kim and Shin, 1997). swimming cells of *A*. *tamarense* appear in January and disappear in May or June. mostly there

appeared the most standing crops in April, when water temperature begins to rise and when red tide was formed by this species in 1997. Concentration of vegetative cells can be determined by proliferation by environmental factors such as water temperature, but the inoculum of vegetative cells into the water was initiated by germination of resting cysts when water temperature was the lowest in the year and lasted about two months. concentration of vegetative cells showed conspicuously high after resting cysts decreased sharply in the sediments. germination of resting cysts had a lot of influence on regional population and quantitative variation, and the germination rate showed the highest periodicity in January and February of the year. these results reflected that the germination of resting cysts was controlled by endogenous biological clock. the same results were reported in Maine Bay, America and St. Lawrence estuary, Canada (Anderson and Keafer 1987; Perez et al. 1998), and germination was induced by endogenous annual clock where there is no or little influence by changes of outer environments such as water temperature, day length.

In this study, when the bloom potentials of *Alexandrium* spp. were enumerated among the 14 stations in Jinhae Bay from December 2011 to December 2012, higher abundance of cysts concentration was observed in stations St.11 (141.5±51.9 cysts/cm³) and St. 10, St. 5 and St. 8 around Jindong Bay (Fig. 29, Table 9) where is a relatively deeper central area than the other places in Jinhae. this result is consistent with the result of Matrai et al. (2005) that Alexandrium spp. cysts more abundance in deep waters. the distribution of dinoflagellate cysts is governed not only by environmental factors such as the particle size of sediment, sedimentation rate, and hydrographic and geographical features, but also by biological factors (Dale 1976, White and Lewis 1982, Turgeon et al. 1990). cysts behave as finegrained sedimentary particles, and move and concentrate along hydrodynamic systems by the winnowing effects of neritic suspended particles containing various micro flora and micro fauna. also Jinhae Bay has many different water depth ranging from 5-20 meters and strong water currents with speed 100 cm/s and the general hydrographic features are characterized by the northward inflow of the Tsushima current and the subsequent westward flows Dangdong to Tongyeong (Lee, 1998). thus, surface sediment distributions are under the direct influence of the centrifugal force of this current movement, and the largest fine-grained muddy deposits are located around Jindong areas in central Jinhae Bay.

Very low concentrations of vegetative cells were found in February at two stations in Chilcheon Island in Jinhae Bay (Figs. 30-31). the endogenous clock causes germination to begin at February, so the cells we observed might have recently germinated or might have continued through the winter months. since 1994 Kim's laboratory have been focused on Jinhae Bay to find out the reason for paralytic shellfish poisoning and proved the relationship between the occurrence of Alexandrium as causative organisms and shellfish toxification (Kim 1994; Kim 1995; Kim and Lee 1996). Alexandrium was usually found at the low temperature and disappeared around May in Jinhae Bay station, but in 1996 it continued to occur even in June, causing long-term toxification and also occurred massively in September, as was not the case with before. moreover, a high concentration of Alexandrium tamarense blooms occurred in April, 1997, that is 7.2×10^6 cells/L, and red tide continued for 20 days in Chindong Bay. the period from December 1998 to April 1999 showed a constant occurrence but a relatively low occurrence in the surface and bottom layer, that is, under 4,800 cells/L (April, in the surface). in the year, the winter occurrence began in December and continued until April, next year, and the summer occurrence began in August and became maximum concentration in September and faded away in October and the winter occurrence began again in December, when water temperature was getting low. *Alexandrium*, which occurred during the survey period of March 1998 through April 1999, showed a similar occurrence to that of Kim and Shin (1997), but this study found no *Alexandrium* genus in the two survey stations in June and July after spring. however, *Alexandrium* was observed to appear in June 1999 in Sujeongri, Jinhae Bay, unlike in 1998. therefore, it can be said that there exist a trifle different periods in different years. Toxic species appears in winter through spring and non-toxic *Alexandrium* species in fall.

Likewise, development of *Alexandrium* spp. in Jinhae Bay showed the yearly and monthly differences in initiation, abundance and lasting time. light is very limited in January and turbulence is high, although germination is possible in February, but growth conditions are poor for *Alexandrium* spp. vegetative cells and losses are likely high (Kirn et al., 2005). however, as shown in Tables 3-6 and Figs. 7-8, 13-14, the salinity and temperature in Jinhae Bay is very high in February, but low average of temperature and the subsequent elevation at the end of springtime, these higher water temperature and low in spring salinities have been lead to high

concentration for *Alexandrium* spp. cells/L in April, it is also well matching with the observation in Jinhae Bay by Shin et al. (2010).

PSP toxification occurring massively in spring, especially, has a close relationship with the occurrence period of these toxic species, and swimming cells appear several months before April, when toxin concentration of shellfish is maximum. therefore, the case should be taken into full consideration that long-term occurrence leads to accumulation of toxin in shellfish even during the period of low water temperature.



5. Conclusion

Alexandrium spp. vegetative cells had been observed in winter months but blooms recurred every spring or summer. the studies revealed that the temperature and light seemed most important for *Alexandrium* spp. cyst germination.

The physical and environmental factors: oxygen, light, and warmer temperatures have been shown significantly enhance germination rates in many research studies (Anderson et al., 2005; Anderson and Wall., 1978)

The results show high concentration of vegetative cells in summer for *Alexandrium* spp. because the seasonal upwelling exist in the winter and the end of spring, mixing the water from depth to surface, when light levels are low and strong winds in the winter drive down and sets up again in the the abundant and blooms of *Alexandrium* spp. vegetative cells occurs in surface water in late summer.

Extensive studies on *Alexandrium* spp. ecology have been modicum in Jinhae Bay. even though the shellfish and fish farms in the Bay is much biggest than the other places in of embayment, for this reason, the National Fisheries Research Development Institute (NFRDI), maintains a sampling program for the detection of toxic dinoflagellate as well as monitoring the abundance of *Alexandrium* spp. to limit the extend of physical and ecological parameters that effect in germination and bloom rate of dinoflagellate exist and occurred in Jinhae Bay and coastal areas in Korea.

The results show that dinoflagellate with the *Alexandrium* spp. cysts assemblages in Jinhae Bay consider with environmental changes, suggesting that *Alexandrium* spp. cysts very important indicators for HABs in Korean coastal areas. also the data suggest that bloom potential of *Alexandrium* spp. the primary cause of the increase in dinoflagellate cysts concentrations in Jinhae Bay and impact the aquaculture and fish farm, because this increase affected by other environmental and physicochemical factors such as water temperature and salinity.

th PL

6. References

- Anderson, D.M. 1980. Effects of temperature conditioning on development and germination of *Gonyaulax tamarensis* (*Dinophyceae*) hypnozygotes. Journal of Phycology, 16:166-172.
- Anderson, D.M. 1998. Physiology and bloom dynamics of toxic Alexandrium species, with emphasis on life cycle transitions. the Physiological Ecology of Harmful Algal Blooms, pp. 29-48.
- Anderson, D.M., B.A. Keafer. 1987. An endogenous annual clock in the toxic marine dinoflagellate *Gonyaulax tamarensis*. Nature, 325: 616-617.
- Anderson, D.M. and D. Wall. 1978. Potential importance of benthic cysts of Gonyaulax tamarensis and G. excavata in initiating toxic dinoflagellate blooms. Journal of Phycology, 14 (2): 224-234.
- Anderson, D.M., Ch. A. Stock, B.A. Keafer, A.B. Nelson, B. Thompson, D.J. McGillicuddy Jr, M. Keller, P.A. Matrai, J. Martin. 2005. *Alexandrium fundyense* cyst dynamics in the Gulf of Maine. Deep-Sea Research II, 52: 2522–2542.
- Anderson, D.M., Alpermann, T.J., Cembella, A.D., Collos, Y., Masseret, E., Montresor, M. 2012. The globally distributed genus *Alexandrium:* multifaceted roles in marine ecosystems and impacts on human health. Harmful Algae, 14: 10–35.
- Angles, S., Jordi, A., Garces, E., Basterretxea, G., Palanques, A. 2010. *Alexandrium minutum* resting cyst distribution dynamics in a confined site. Deep-Sea Research II, 57: 210–221.

- Chang, D.S, Shin, I.S., Pyeon, J.H., Park, Y.H. 1987. A study of paralytic shellfish poison of sea mussel, *Mytilus edulis*-food poisoning accident in Gamchun Bay, Pusan, Korea, 1986. Bull Korean Fish Soc, 20: 293– 299.
- Chang, D.S., Shin, I.S., Cho, H.R., Kim, J.H., Pyeun, J.H., Park, Y.H. 1988. Studies on distribution, characterization and detoxification of shellfish in Korea. 1. A study on the distribution of paralytic shellfish poison. Bull Korean Fish Soc, 21: 113–126.
- Dale, B. 1977. Cysts of the toxic red-tide dinoflagellate *Gonyaulax excavata* (Braarud) Balech from Oslofjorden, Norway. Sarsia, 63 (1): 29-34.
- Figueroa, R.I., Bravo, I., Garce's, E. 2008. The significance of sexual versus asexual cyst formation in the life cycle of the noxious dinoflagellate *Alexandrium peruvianum*. Harmful Algae, 7: 653–663.
- Genovesi, B., Mouillot, D., Vaquer, A., Laabir, M., Pastoureaud, A. 2007.
 Towards an optimal sampling strategy for *Alexandrium catenella* (*Dinophyceae*) benthic resting cysts. Harmful Algae, 6: 837–848.
- Goodman, D.K. 1987. *Dinoflagellate* cysts in ancient and modern sediments. IN: Taylor, F.J.R. (Ed.), the Biology of *dinoflagellates*. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, pp. 649–722.
- Gracia, S., Roy, S., Starr, M. 2013. Spatial distribution and viability of *Alexandrium tamarense* resting cysts in surface sediments from the St. Lawrence Estuary, Eastern Canada. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, pp. 121-122.
- Hallegraeff, G.M. 1993. A review of harmful algal blooms and their apparent global increase. Phycologia, 32: 79–99.

- Han, M.S., Jeon, J.K., Kim, Y.O. 1992 Occurrence of dinoflagellate *Alexandrium tamarense*, a causative organism of paralytic shellfish poisoning in Chinhae Bay, Korea. J Plankton Res, 14: 1581–1592.
- Keafer, B.A., K.O. Buesseler, D.M. Anderson. 1992. Burial of living dinoflagellate cysts in estuarine and nearshore sediments. Marine Micropaleontology, 20: 147-1 61.
- Kim, C.H. 1994. Germinability of resting cysts associated with occurrence of toxic dinoflagellate *Alexandrium* species. J. Aquaculture, 7: 251-264. (in Korean)
- Kim, C.H. 1995. Paralytic shellfish toxin profiles of the dinoflagellate *Alexandrium* species isolated from benthic cysts in Jinhae Bay, Korea. J Korean Fish Soc, 28: 364–372.
- Kim, C.H., J.S., Lee. 1996. Occurrence of toxic dinoflagellates and PSP toxin profiles in *Alexandrium* spp. from Jinhae Bay, Korea. In [Eds.] Yasumoto T., Oshima Y. Fukuyo Y., *Harmful and Toxic Algal Blooms*. IOC of UNESCO 1996, Paris, pp. 61-64.
- Kim, CH, Shin, J.B. 1997. Harmful and toxic red tide algal development and toxins production in Korean coastal waters. Algae, 12: 269–276.
- Kim, C.H., Park, T.G., Lee, C.K. 2010. Harmful dinoflagellates and mitigation strategies in Korea. Philippine Journal of Science, 139 (2): 139-147.
- Kim, H.G. 2010. An Overview on the Occurrences of Harmful Algal Blooms (HABs) and Mitigation Strategies in Korean Coastal Waters. Coastal Environmental and Ecosystem Issues of the East China Sea. pp. 121–131.

- Kirn, S.L., Townsend, D.W., Pettigrew, N.R. 2005. Suspended Alexandrium spp. hypnozygote cysts in the Gulf of Maine. Deep-Sea Research II, 52: 2543–2559.
- Lacasse, O., Rochon, A., Roy, S. 2013. High cyst concentrations of the potentially toxic *dinoflagellate Alexandrium tamarense* species complex in Bedford Basin, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 66: 230-233.
- Lee I.C., Y.J. Oh, H.T. kim. 2008. Annual variation in oxygen- deficient water mass in jinhae bay, Korea. J. of. kor. Fish. soc., 41(2): 134-139.
- Lee, J.H. 1998. Policy issues and management framework of Chinhae Bay, Republic of Korea. Ocean & Coastal Management, 38: 161-178.
- Lee, J.S., Shin, I.S., Kim, Y.M., Chang, D.S. 1997. Paralytic shellfish toxins in the mussel, *Mytilus edulis*, caused the shellfish poisoning accident at Geoje, Korea, in 1996. J Korean Fish Soc, 30: 158–160.
- Martins, C.A., Kulis, D., Franca, S., Anderson, D.M. 2004. The loss of PSP toxin production in a formerly toxic *Alexandrium lusitanicum* clone. Toxicon, 43: 195–205.
- Matrai, P., Thompson, B., Keller, M. 2005. Circannual excystment of resting cysts of *Alexandrium* spp. from eastern Gulf of Maine populations. Deep-Sea Research II, 52: 2560–2568.
- Matzuoka., K. and Fukuyo. Y. 2000. Technical Guide for Modern Dinoflagellate Cyst Study. Faculty of Fisheries. Nagasaki University. pp: 6-11.
- Nagai, S., Yamamoto, K., Hata, N., Itakura, S.H. 2012. Study of DNA extraction methods for use in loop-mediated isothermal amplification

detection of single resting cysts in the toxic dinoflagellates *Alexandrium tamarense* and *A. catenella*. Marine Genomics. 7: 51-56.

- Nehring, S. 1996. Recruitment of planktonic dinoflagellates: Importance of benthicresting stages and resuspension events. Int. Revue ges. Hydrobiology, 8 1 (4): 51 3-527.
- Park, G-H., Kim, K-Y., Kim, C-H, Kim, H.G. 2004. Spatio-temporal distribution of dinoflagellate resting cysts at the Saemangeum area. J. Korean Fish. Soc., 37: 202–208 (in Korean).
- Park, S.C., K.W. Lee, Y.I. Song. 1995. Acoustic characters and distribution pattern of modern fine-grained deposits in a tide-dominated coastal bay: Jinhae bay, Southeast Korea. Geo-Marine Letters, 15: 77-84.
- Perez, C.C., S. Roy, M. Levasseur, D.M. Anderson. 1998. Control of germination of *Alexandrium tamarense* cysts from the lower St. Lawrence estuary (Canada). J. Phycol., 34: 242-249.
- Shin, J.B.2002. Distribution and Germinability of Alexandrium tamarense/catenella Resting Cysts for the Prediction of Toxic Algal Blooms. Master thesis. Pukyong National University, Busan.pp.1-46.
- Shin, H.H., Matsuoka, K., Yoon, Y.H., Kim, Y.O. 2010. Response of dinoflagellate cyst assemblages to salinity changes in Yeoja Bay, Korea. Marine Micro paleontology, 77: 15-24.
- Sournia, A. 1995. Red tide and toxic marine phytoplankton of the world ocean: an inquiry into biodiversity. Harmful Marine Algal Blooms. pp. 103–112.
- Su, J.Q., Yang, X.R., Zheng, T.L., Tian, Y., Jiao, N Z., Cai, L.Z., Hong, H. Sh. 2007. Isolation and characterization of a marine algicidal
bacterium against the toxic *dinoflagellate Alexandrium tamarense*. Harmful Algae, 6: 799–810.

- Subba R., D.V., Stewart, J. E. 2011. A preliminary study of the formation of a third category of cysts by a toxigenic *dinoflagellate*, *Alexandrium fundyense* in response to elevated concentrations of ammonium chloride. Harmful Algae, 10: 512-520.
- Turgeon, J., Cembella, A.D., Therriault, J.-C., Beland, P. 1990. Spatial distribution of resting cysts of *Alexandrium* spp. in sediments of the lower St. Lawrence estuary and the Gaspe coast (eastern Canada). *In* Graneli, F., Sundström, B., Edler, L. & Anderson, D. M. (Eds.), *Toxic Marine Phytoplankton*. Elsevier, New York, pp. 238–243.
- Tsujino, M., Kamiyama, T., Uchida, T., Yamaguchi, M., Itakura, S. 2002.
 Abundance and germination capability of restingcysts of *Alexandrium* spp. (Dinophyceae) from faecal pellets of macrobenthic organisms. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 271:1–7.
- White, A.W., Lewis, C. M. 1982. Resting cysts of the toxic, red tide dinoflagellate *Gonyaulax excavata* in Bay of Fundy sediments. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 39: 1185–1194.

Acknowledgement

First and foremost, I am grateful to the government of the republic of Korea through KOICA for providing me the full the scholarship and the government of the republic of Sudan for nominating me and giving me this chance to study about Fisheries Sciences in PKNU.

I wish to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. Chang-Hoon Kim, for his guidance. I am also much indebted to Prof. Wongyu Park, the committee chairman for his useful comment, valuable discussion and for critical reading of the manuscript, and my committee member Prof. Seok Jin Oh.

Special thanks to Dr. Kyoung Mi Kang, her assistant Mr. Kim and KOICA coordinators for their assistance.

I would like to acknowledge the member of Lab. of Aquaculture Environment (Min-Jung Kim, Min-Joo Song, Eun-Ji Kim, Seung-long Lee). Also I would like to thank (Mr. Kyung-hoon Kim, Dr. Hossein Parandavar, Jae-gu Oh, Sung-Kyun Kim, Byeong-Gwon Kim, Jong-Seok Kim, Ji-Hong Lee) in Fisheries Science &Technology Center of PKNU at Goseong. Special thanks to my some colleagues 2012 KOICA-PKNU students for their great help during this master program .

Finally, I must express my sincere thanks to my family for their constant support to me.

